

RESEARCH REPORT

Promoting a New Direction for Youth Justice

Strategies to Fund a Community-Based Continuum of Care and Opportunity

Samantha Harvell Chloe Warnberg Leah Sakala Constance Hull

March 2019





ABOUT THE URBAN INSTITUTE

The nonprofit Urban Institute is a leading research organization dedicated to developing evidence-based insights that improve people's lives and strengthen communities. For 50 years, Urban has been the trusted source for rigorous analysis of complex social and economic issues; strategic advice to policymakers, philanthropists, and practitioners; and new, promising ideas that expand opportunities for all. Our work inspires effective decisions that advance fairness and enhance the well-being of people and places.

 $Copyright @ March 2019. \ Urban \ Institute. \ Permission \ is \ granted for \ reproduction \ of this \ file, \ with \ attribution \ to \ the \ Urban \ Institute. \ Cover \ image \ by \ Tim \ Meko.$

Contents

Contents	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Introduction	5
The Need to Invest in Community-Based Youth Justice Solutions	7
Structuring Investments to Address Youth and Community Needs	10
Promising and Innovative Strategies for Directing Resources to	
Community-Based Youth Justice Solutions	13
Capturing and Redirecting Savings from Reduced Youth Incarceration and Facility Closure	13
Repurposing Youth Facilities and Leveraging Land Value	17
Transforming Former Youth Detention and Placement Facilities	18
Leveraging Land Value to Create New Funding Streams	19
Maximizing Existing State and Federal Funding Opportunities	21
Child Welfare Funding	23
Workforce and Education Grants	27
Victims of Crime Act Funding	28
Community Development Block Grant Funding	29
Implementing Innovative Strategies to Fund Community Investment	29
Leveraging a New Tax to Develop Sustainable Funding	30
Pay for Success Models	32
Participatory Budgeting	33
Opportunity Zones	34
Anchor Institutions	35
Cannabis Legalization	36
Conclusion	37
Notes	38
References	43
About the Authors	46
Statement of Independence	47

Acknowledgments

This report was funded by the Public Welfare Foundation. We are grateful to them and to all our funders, who make it possible for the Urban Institute to advance its mission.

The views expressed are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Urban Institute, its trustees, or its funders. Funders do not determine research findings or the insights and recommendations of Urban experts. Further information on the Urban Institute's funding principles is available at www.urban.org/fundingprinciples.

We are grateful to the many people who took the time to share their experience, perspective, and vision for better youth justice investments. The authors thank the participants in the August 9, 2018, Innovative Strategies for Reinvesting in Youth Justice convening, the youth advocate roundtable participants, and the interviewees who generously shared their time and expertise with us. We want to acknowledge Randy Bowman, Laura Goren, Dakota Hall, Josie Halpern-Finnerty, Shelli Jackson, Todd Landry, Josh Lerner, Galit Lipa, Alezandra Melendez, Sharlen Moore, Ann Rooney, Noran Sanford, Valerie Slater, and Kelly Walsh in particular for their review of prior excerpts and drafts as well as Carmen Daugherty, Liz Ryan, Mishi Faruqee and Hernan Carvente with Youth First for their collaboration on this report. We are also grateful to our colleagues Akiva Liberman and Nancy La Vigne for their support and feedback during this process and to Hanna Love for all her contributions to the conceptualization and planning of the convening. Any errors are the authors' responsibility alone.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS iv

Introduction

Over the past two decades, the United States has seen a dramatic decline in youth arrests and a fundamental shift in its approach to youth justice. Recognizing the detrimental effects of incarceration on youth and communities, states and localities are increasingly embracing community-based strategies to prevent, intervene, and respond to harmful and/or illegal behavior. Yet, despite this shift, they continue to funnel the vast majority of funding to incarceration rather than investing in community-driven solutions. Building a true continuum of care and opportunity for youth and families in their home communities to both prevent and address the root causes of illegal behavior requires substantial investment, particularly given that communities disproportionately impacted by youth incarceration often also experience concentrated disadvantage that creates structural barriers to youths' success. There is a pressing need to identify proven, promising, and innovative strategies for investing in community-based solutions and, moreover, to follow the lead of those closest to the challenges on the ground in developing and implementing tailored strategies. This is the next frontier of juvenile justice reform and crucial to the kind of transformational change that true justice demands.

To fill this gap, the Urban Institute launched a project to explore methods that states and localities have used, or could consider, to invest in a continuum of care and opportunity for youth and their families (see box 1 for an overview). This report summarizes strategies that Urban identified through interviews with a wide range of experts, both inside and outside the juvenile justice system; an all-day multidisciplinary convening; two roundtables with youth advocates; and a review of relevant documents (see box 2 for additional information on the project methodology). It focuses on potential strategies for reinvesting justice system resources, leveraging existing state and federal funding streams, and creating new sources of funding to support programming in historically disenfranchised communities in which many youth and families are, or are at risk for becoming, involved with the justice system. The report aims to answer one guiding question: How can we support better outcomes for youth and families by investing more resources in programming and community development strategies in neighborhoods disproportionately impacted by incarceration?

BOX 1

What Does a Continuum of Community-Based Care and Opportunity for Youth Look Like?

Throughout this report, we reference a "continuum of community-based care and opportunity" for youth. "Community-based" is used here to reference any *nonresidential* program, support, resource, or service that youth and families can access while living in their homes. It does not include local residential services such as detention or placement-based services or treatment. A well-resourced continuum would include a range of supports and opportunities that build on youth and family strengths and assets to promote healthy development, improve family functioning, meet essential needs, and strengthen neighborhoods. Ideally, youth and families would have access to a rich variety of supports and services outside the juvenile justice system so that it is not the only entry point for access and participation can continue beyond a youth's involvement in the justice system. Services should be culturally appropriate, effective, and responsive to the evolving needs of youth and families. In addition to services and resources to address underlying needs, a well-resourced continuum would advance community development strategies that expand educational, workforce, and enrichment opportunities. Community-based continua of care and opportunity would include the following:

- access to health care, including mental health treatment
- civic engagement and service learning opportunities
- crisis services, including mobile units
- early care and education
- economic development and community infrastructure
- educational and vocational support and programming, apprenticeships, etc.
- family therapy
- holistic victims' services
- life skills programs
- mentoring programs
- parenting programs
- pathways for future economic opportunity and job opportunities that provide a living wage
- positive youth development programming, including school-based programs
- programs that support basic needs including safe and affordable housing, adequate nutrition,
 and reliable transportation
- prosocial enrichment and recreational opportunities (e.g. sports, art, music, theater, etc.)
- respite and support for families with complex needs
- restorative justice programming
- substance use treatment
- thriving community centers and safe spaces for recreation
- trauma recovery and healing programming and supports
- violence prevention and gang intervention programs

FIGURE 1
Continuum of Care



URBAN INSTITUTE

The Need to Invest in Community-Based Youth Justice Solutions

Ideally, the goal of juvenile justice is to hold youth accountable in developmentally appropriate ways, reduce the likelihood of future harmful behavior, and help youth get on track to healthy adulthood (NRC 2013). Effective approaches minimize justice system exposure: divert youth from formal system involvement when possible (Petrosino, Turpin-Petrosino, and Guckenburg 2010; Wilson and Hoge

2013), strictly limit out-of-home placement to only the most serious cases (Aizer and Doyle 2015; Hjalmarsson 2008; Nagin, Cullen, and Jonson 2009; Villettaz, Killias, and Zoder 2006; Western and Beckett 1999), and connect youth with resources, services, and support in their own communities (Harvell et al. 2018; NRC 2013). Youth who are demonstrating normal adolescent behaviors are best supported entirely outside the juvenile justice system (NRC 2013). For those who do require targeted intervention for harmful behavior, research has shown that community-based options are generally more effective than incarceration in reducing reoffending (Fabelo et al. 2015; Ryon et al. 2013). Although incarceration disconnects youth from critical family and social supports, interferes with prosocial development, and does a poor job of preventing reoffending (NRC 2013), community-based programs that meet youth needs, build critical skills, and promote positive development can more effectively get youth back on track to successful adulthood (Harvell et al. 2018).

BOX 2

Methodology

The Urban Institute collected information for this report using the following methods:

- interviews with more than 20 advocates; government agency officials; legislators; representatives from community organizations; and other stakeholders with expertise on state budget systems, justice reinvestment, community investment, and juvenile justice conducted between June and October 2018;
- a convening on "Innovative Strategies for Reinvesting in Youth Justice" with approximately 40 advocates, practitioners, and budget experts in Washington, DC, in August 2018;
- two roundtables with approximately 25 youth advocates (including teenagers, young adults, and staff) in Milwaukee, WI, and Richmond, VA, on "Making Smarter Investments in Juvenile Justice" in November and December 2018; and
- a review of relevant program materials, research, and reports of identified programs, examples, and strategies.

Many states and localities have recognized the research on improving outcomes for youth, and youth incarceration rates have plummeted over the past decade. Between 2006 and 2015, the national juvenile commitment rate fell by half.² Although this trend parallels a similar decline in arrest rates,³ it also reflects deliberate choices at the state and local levels to opt for community-based alternatives to incarceration for most youth. For example, in 2007, California overhauled its approach to youth

corrections, shifting responsibility for supervision of most youth from a central state agency to local probation departments through Senate Bill 81. The state subsequently saw a 60 percent reduction in youth detention and a 74 percent reduction in state placements. Kansas also took a legislative approach to change, passing sweeping juvenile justice reforms with Senate Bill 367 in 2016 that prohibited the use of incarceration for many less serious offenses among other changes. Youth incarceration in corrections facilities fell 23 percent in the first year, allowing the state to close two youth prisons and freeing up millions of dollars to reinvest in community-based treatment for youth (Durnan, Olsen, and Harvell 2018). New York City similarly worked to reduce the use of detention over the past 10 years, improving the use of a standardized risk assessment tool to inform detention decisions and implementing innovative solutions—such as evening arraignment options—that expedite the justice process. Between 2009 and 2018, the number of youths detained in the city declined significantly from 430 to fewer than 80.5

Despite great progress, declines in youth incarceration have exacerbated racial and ethnic disparities in the current juvenile justice system. The movement away from youth incarceration has not benefited everyone equally, and today, compared with a decade ago, youth of color are pulled into the system and kept there at even more disproportionate levels than their White counterparts. Between 2003 and 2013, the disparity between Black and White youth incarceration commitment rates grew by 15 percent. The most recent data (2015) suggest Black youth were five times more likely than White youth, and Latino youth were 65 percent more likely than White youth, to be detained or committed (Sentencing Project 2016, 2017a, 2017b). This disproportionality cannot be accounted for by differential crime rates alone; rather, it stems from a wide range of factors including systemic inequality and differential access to prevention and diversion support (Vessels 2015). Disproportionate arrests of youth of color are a particularly significant driver of the disproportionately high incarceration rates at later stages of the justice process (Sentencing Project 2016). The causes of racial and ethnic disparity in juvenile justice are wide-ranging and complex, requiring multipronged solutions that simultaneously address structural inequality, bias, and prevention and support services. Community investment can be a key component of strategies to reduce the overrepresentation of youth of color in the juvenile justice system by strengthening local infrastructure and bolstering continua of care.

The dramatic decline in youth incarceration creates opportunities to reallocate resources and spending toward ensuring that youth and their families have the support they need to thrive, particularly in communities of color. However, the states and localities moving away from incarceration are not investing in community-based support systems for youth at the same levels. Policymakers and advocates often point to the potential cost savings of opting for community-based alternatives (which

typically cost pennies on the dollar compared with the annual cost of youth incarceration) over detention and out-of-home placement (McCarthy, Schiraldi, and Shark 2016).⁶ States still spend significantly more on youth prisons than on community-based alternatives. Connecticut, for example, spent more on the Connecticut Juvenile Training School than all alternatives combined in 2015 (Love, Pelletier, and Harvell 2017). Similarly, Kansas spent \$7 of every \$10 of its juvenile services funds on youth incarceration in 2015,⁷ and Virginia spent \$15 on youth incarceration for every \$1 spent on community-based services in 2016.⁸ Effectively shifting away from youth incarceration requires a robust and well-resourced continuum of care and opportunity for youth in the community and support for their families and caregivers. Meeting the comprehensive needs of youth and families and advancing broader community development requires dedicated financial resources. Funding youth support systems in underresourced and historically disenfranchised communities is especially important for addressing persistent racial and ethnic disparities.

Structuring Investments to Address Youth and Community Needs

Because youth, their families, and their communities are the primary stakeholders in youth justice investment strategies, it is essential that they are given opportunities to inform such strategies by sharing their expertise, perspectives, and experiences. In communities with high rates of justice system contact (which disproportionately include communities of color and communities with high rates of poverty) members are often excluded both from policy conversations and budget lines associated with justice and safety (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2018). This constitutes a missed opportunity, as the people closest to public safety challenges have critical perspectives and insights with which to inform the development of effective solutions.

Clearly defining community constituencies is a prerequisite for ensuring that those stakeholders inform and guide strategy discussions. The communities within which youth live, grow, and learn are various and can be defined by social circles and relationships, school district, neighborhood, identity and demographics, faith, native language, immigrant status, or common experience. Such communities can provide youth valuable support as they transition to adulthood, and engaging youth in the decisionmaking process can ensure that resource strategies leverage the communities most salient to them.

Giving youth and their families a seat at the table may also lead to more expansive and creative investment strategies. While many traditional efforts to promote safety and stability for youth have focused on programs and services, some youth emphasize the importance of drawing a more direct connection between meeting basic needs and broader safety and stability (box 3 summarizes findings from two focus groups with youth advocates on resource investment). For example, the Young Women's Freedom Center conducted interviews with more than 100 women in San Francisco who were involved in the justice system. Those women reported that finding stable and affordable housing and living-wage jobs were far higher priorities than receiving therapy or other kinds of programming (Melendrez 2019). Ensuring these basic needs are met is an important precursor to other programs and services, since lacking basic resources such as adequate nutrition or safe and stable housing can preclude participation in other activities, services, and programs. Reinvestment strategies can target basic needs in various ways, such as improving school lunches or revising restrictions on public housing.

BOX 3

Where Should the Money Go?

States and localities looking to achieve a well-resourced continuum of care and opportunity for youth must weigh competing priorities. Youth and community input is critical in determining where financial resources are targeted. Involving youth and families in decisionmaking helps ensure that those most directly impacted by the system play a role in shaping better policy, as well as increasing fairness and the efficient use of resources. Localities have used a wide range of strategies to engage youth, families, and community members in discussions around justice investments and formalize and prioritize their input into surveys, town halls, focus groups, and participatory budgeting.

During two separate roundtables in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and Richmond, Virginia, youth advocates including teenagers, young adults, and support staff discussed the best targets for financial investment in youth. Participants focused on capacity building to serve justice-involved youth outside the traditional juvenile justice system, as well as increasing access to services for youth not necessarily involved in the justice system. Some suggested targets for reinvestment include the following:

- meeting the basic needs of youth (e.g., housing and nutrition)
- youth enrichment (e.g., after-school recreation activities)
- community enrichment (e.g., building a community center that is open, welcoming, and operated by community members)
- education, job training, and employment opportunities
- mentor programs (with mentors who can identify with, and relate to, youth)

 problem-solving solutions outside the traditional juvenile justice system (e.g., peace circles and restorative justice programs)

Roundtable participants noted the importance of having community members drive and sustain these initiatives.

Funding priorities will vary between communities, and input from local youth and family stakeholders is critical for identifying tailored solutions for place-specific needs. The suggestions discussed here emerged from two groups of youth advocates, but it is important to create platforms and ongoing feedback mechanisms to solicit and encourage youth and family engagement in each community.

The voices calling for a more expansive approach to youth justice investment speak to the dual goals of providing direct services and advancing broader community development. Youth involved in the justice system disproportionately come from communities that have experienced long-standing underinvestment in the form of underresourced schools, lack of affordable housing, lack of reliable transportation, insufficient access to health care, and inadequate community spaces and recreational facilities (IoM and NRC 2001). Investing in programming without addressing these larger structural barriers can reduce the value of the programming or even be counterproductive. For example, youth may not be able to take advantage of mentoring or job-readiness programs if they do not have access to transportation. Further, investments that focus only on programming may actually be a gateway to further criminal justice system involvement if participation is court-mandated and youth are penalized for not complying with requirements due to lack of access. Ensuring that youth and their families have opportunities to weigh in on policy and program proposals and to provide feedback during implementation and evaluation may help policymakers and program administrators mitigate these potential problems.

Finally, developing investment strategies that are tailored to respond to youth needs and experiences in specific community contexts often requires innovation and creativity. The growing body of literature about evidence-informed practices and programming can provide a vital foundation for investment strategies. But communities also need the resources and leeway to develop their own solutions, as well as measurement tools and support to assess and course-correct as needed. Ensuring that community and practitioner stakeholders are able to provide real-time feedback can help mitigate potential challenges early on. While innovation and adaptation require some tolerance for risk, jurisdictions that feel that the juvenile justice system status quo is providing poor returns may be inclined to try new approaches.

Promising and Innovative Strategies for Directing Resources to Community-Based Youth Justice Solutions

To explore the different strategies that states and localities have used to invest in community-based youth justice solutions, as well as identify new and innovative funding sources that hold promise outside the justice world, Urban conducted interviews with a range of stakeholders in the field, held roundtables with youth justice advocates, and convened a diverse group of thinkers in August 2018 to brainstorm ideas. This report is organized around the four overarching funding strategies that Urban identified. It summarizes both the opportunities that these strategies present and specific examples of their implementation in localities across the country. The four approaches are as follows:

- capturing and reinvesting savings from reduced youth incarceration and facility closure
- repurposing former incarceration facilities and leveraging land value
- leveraging existing state and federal funding streams
- thinking outside the box to redirect existing resources or generate new funds to support a continuum of care and opportunity for youth and families

Capturing and Redirecting Savings from Reduced Youth Incarceration and Facility Closure

One of the primary aims for advocates and policymakers seeking to support a continuum of community-based care and opportunities for youth and families is to capture and redirect resources within the juvenile justice system. The decline in youth incarceration noted above and the resulting closure of hundreds of facilities offers significant opportunity to identify and redirect savings to community-based alternatives. This concept of justice reinvestment grew out of work funded by the Open Society Foundations (Tucker and Cadora 2003), which theorized that communities could reduce unnecessary incarceration and invest savings into a broader range of community priorities in an effort to address the root causes of crime (e.g., by investing in schools, improved health care, job training). The idea was that this would improve outcomes, further reduce incarceration, and generate a cycle of funding for community solutions to community challenges. In the criminal justice world, this was a particularly

compelling idea for rethinking public safety strategies in historically disenfranchised communities where governments pay as much as \$1 million to incarcerate people within a single city block (see the Million Dollar Blocks project at the Columbia University Center for Spatial Research).

Preserving a sustainable cycle of funding is key to the reinvestment model. Advocates and policymakers can work to ensure that resources for youth justice interventions (e.g., incarceration) are preserved and reallocated toward alternative strategies that serve the communities most impacted by youth incarceration, rather than toward competing local or statewide priorities. Establishing well-designed reinvestment mechanisms that capture savings from reduced incarceration and directing them toward community alternatives helps ensure that funds are repurposed for youth justice priorities and that reform strategies achieve their intended outcomes. Juvenile justice reform efforts in states as diverse as Georgia, South Dakota, and Kansas have aimed to reduce incarceration (or even close specific youth facilities) and then direct some or all of the resulting savings into community-based services for youth (see Durnan, Olsen, and Harvell 2018). Moreover, states and localities have taken different approaches to secure and redirect funding from incarceration to community-based services for youth (see case study 1 for a note on "up-front" investment and an overview of California's Youth Reinvestment Grant Program). Consider the following:

Kansas shifted resources from incarceration to the community as part of a comprehensive 2016 reform effort. With the passage of S.B. 367, the Kansas legislature approved wideranging juvenile justice reforms to limit arrests and detention, reduce the length of time that youth spend in facilities, and support community-based interventions. A key piece of the legislation was the creation of a lockbox mechanism, the Juvenile Justice Improvement Fund, to directly capture cost savings related to the reform and channel them into community-based alternatives. The language in the statute is unequivocal about the purpose of this funding, protecting it to advance supports for youth and their families. In the first year following implementation of the reform, Kansas directed \$12.3 million into the evidence-based programming fund for youth supervised in the community. Additional savings were diverted to priorities outside juvenile justice, proving that even strongly worded legislation can be circumvented in contentious budget conversations. Nonetheless, S.B. 367 has demonstrated that reinvestment in youth services is possible even in tight budget cycles with multiple competing priorities for public resources.

CASE STUDY 1

Building Broad-Based Support for Up-Front Investment: Lessons from California's Youth Reinvestment Grant Program

Although they are typically referred to as reinvestment, many justice reinvestment schemes include an initial, up-front investment in alternative solutions (Welsh-Loveman and Harvell 2017). This influx of cash allows states or localities to implement a new program or strategy with the goal of improving outcomes, reducing delinquency, and freeing up additional resources to support a cycle of sustainable funding. While this up-front investment can be authorized legislatively, another option for securing resources is to engage in an executive budget strategy. Leaders in California took that path in 2018 to launch the Youth Justice Reinvestment Grant Program. The idea was originally proposed by Assemblymember Reginald Jones-Sawyer as a three-year, \$100 million Youth Justice Reinvestment Fund funded via the executive budget to support diversion alternatives for youth. Strategic education and relationship-building with budget committee members and staff in both the Assembly and Senate well in advance of the budget cycle—as well as messaging that emphasized the opportunity for reinvesting fiscal savings—built strong support for the concept. In June 2018, Governor Jerry Brown approved a budget allocation of \$37.3 million for the program in the FY 2018 budget. Nearly all that funding will be competitively awarded to local jurisdictions to implement "evidence-based, traumainformed, culturally relevant, and developmentally appropriate diversion programs in underserved communities with high rates of juvenile arrests and high rates of racial/ethnic disproportionality within those juvenile arrests."11 The vision is to use those resources to target community-based solutions that work, improve outcomes for youth in California's most disadvantaged communities, and document success in order to advocate for more funding. Consistent with the vision for justice reinvestment noted above, the Youth Justice Reinvestment Fund is designed to improve outcomes that will also result in savings that can then be invested back into the diversion program and ultimately create a selfsustaining funding stream. Because this program has just launched, it will take several years to assess the outcome of this investment, and careful documentation of impacts will be critical. But this example highlights the potential of employing an executive budget strategy to secure up-front investment in community alternatives for youth.

For more on California's Youth Justice Reinvestment Fund and the Youth Reinvestment Grant Program, see Assemblymember Jones-Sawyer's Youth Reinvestment Grant website and the California Board of State and Community Corrections overview of the 2019 grant program funding.

Washington, DC, significantly reduced the number of out-of-home placements of youth, generating millions of dollars in taxpayer savings. A portion of these savings (\$3 million) was allocated through the regular budget cycle to fund a credible messenger youth mentoring program that pairs system-involved youth with supportive adults who have had similar

experiences and can offer guidance and help them strengthen connections with their community, educators, and employers (Sakala, Harvell, and Thomson 2018). The DC Department of Youth Rehabilitation Services was able to direct savings from reduced incarceration to a strengths-focused, community-based program designed to promote long-term success for youth and professionalize the role of participating mentors. This approach strengthens assets and promotes success for justice-involved youth and the communities in which they live.

• **Virginia** similarly undertook a series of reforms that reduced the number of youths placed out of home, enabling the state to close one of its two remaining large youth prisons and reinvest the savings from that closure into community-based services for youth. The state revised processes related to intake, diversion, and detention decisionmaking; implemented evidence-based practices in supervision; and revised length-of-stay guidelines to avoid placement where possible and minimize the time youth are placed out of home. ¹² In the 2016 session, the General Assembly approved budget language authorizing the Department of Juvenile Justice to reinvest savings from those reforms into community-based services. The department subsequently contracted with two agencies (Evidence-Based Associates and AMI Kids) to build a statewide continuum of community-based alternatives to incarceration for youth. ¹³

At the August 2018 convening, policymakers, budget experts, and justice stakeholders with expertise in both state and local budget processes and reinvestment efforts offered several considerations that can promote successful funding cycles, including the following:

- Strengthen and expand the constituency for continued funding. The allocation mechanisms that shape funding streams can be self-perpetuating, creating constituencies for the resources that in turn uphold the status quo. Redirecting funding requires shifting those mechanisms, growing existing constituencies, and building new alliances and partnerships to protect the diverted flow.
- Foster relationships with appropriators ahead of the budget cycle. Appropriations officials are powerful stakeholders who begin to shape budget decisions long before the budget cycle takes place. Building relationships with budget agency staff, policymakers, and other decisionmakers in advance of a given budget cycle or appropriations discussion can pave the way for engaging specific resource issues down the line.
- Learn the language of appropriations. Advocates and policymakers must become familiar with appropriations language and technical mechanisms to influence them effectively. Cultivating

support from budget officials requires clearly articulating fiscal arguments, defining the specific investment, and identifying how success will be measured. In doing so, it is important for success metrics to accurately reflect the proposed initiative. While many programs default to various recidivism measures as key indicators, proponents should consider additional data collection activities—such as collecting data on mental health and well-being, educational engagement, desistance from harmful or destructive activity, and community involvement—to more fully capture the different ways a program or policy change might be having an impact.

For more information on youth justice reinvestment strategies including specific budget mechanisms for redirecting resources, see the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities' toolkit, Youth Justice Reform and Reinvestment: Key Strategies and Fiscal Tools for Success.

For more information on reinvestment strategies employed in Georgia and Kansas, see Urban's State Led Juvenile Justice Systems Improvement: Implementation Progress and Early Outcomes brief.

For more on the DC Credible Messengers Program and other community-driven public safety investments, see Urban's Public Investment in Community-Driven Safety Initiatives: Landscape Study and Key Considerations report.

For more information on reform and reinvestment strategies in Virginia, see the Virginia Department of Juvenile Justice's Transformation Plan 2018 Update.

Repurposing Youth Facilities and Leveraging Land Value

The decline in youth incarceration over the past 15 years has contributed to the closure of hundreds of youth detention and placement facilities. In 2016, the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention's biannual census identified nearly 1,300 fewer operational facilities than in 2000 (Puzzanchera et al. 2018). States and localities now face the challenge of deciding what comes next for these taxpayer-funded structures. Closed youth facilities present an opportunity to create new resources for youth and their families, either by repurposing the buildings to address unmet youth and community needs or by leveraging land value to generate funding for youth and family services.

Transforming Former Youth Detention and Placement Facilities

Some states and localities across the country have developed creative plans to repurpose closed youth facilities into non-correctional resources that address youth and community needs (Love et al. 2018). Examples include a teen community center in Arizona, a technology park in New York, a mixed-income sustainable living community in Michigan, and a residential development project in California. These projects often require significant planning—including dedicated community outreach and partnership efforts—but they can produce benefits by both relieving taxpayers of the financial burden of facility structure upkeep and creating a new community resource to fulfill a previously unmet need. Repurposing a facility also eliminates the possibility that it will be reopened as a prison for either youth or adults.

GrowingChange, a North Carolina-based nonprofit focused on "flipping" closed prisons into community resources, presents another innovative example of a prison repurposing approach. The youth-led program's replicable model of "reclaim, attain, and sustain" focuses on *reclaiming* closed prison sites and converting them into farms and education centers; helping youth and community members *attain* success by providing them with education, vocational training, and program experience; and ensuring *sustainability* by teaching lifelong skills and promoting healthy lifestyles through the provision of fresh, locally grown produce. ¹⁴ Since the organization's founding in 2011, youth leaders have driven decisionmaking, advocated for the program to national, state, and local stakeholders, and generated experience-based solutions. Other key factors to GrowingChange's success include establishing an effective public-private partnership that lifts a burden off the state and adjusting its approach/activities based on quantitative evidence of outcomes. GrowingChange has brought together a broad coalition of university partnerships ranging from North Carolina Land Grant Universities to the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Currently, GrowingChange is working with North Carolina A&T State University (supported by Kellogg) to create an open-sourced, replicable model that will be given away to the communities around the nation to help them "flip the prison."

For more information on repurposing youth prisons, including examples of repurposing efforts and considerations for policymakers and others, see the Urban Institute's Transforming Closed Youth Prisons report.

For additional examples of repurposing adult prisons, see the Sentencing Project's Repurposing: New Beginnings for Closed Prisons.

For more information on GrowingChange, see the GrowingChange website www.growingchange.org.

Leveraging Land Value to Create New Funding Streams

An alternative approach to repurposing physical structures is to leverage land value to generate new funding streams to support services and opportunities for youth and families. Landowners of prison or juvenile facility sites—typically states or localities—can lease a property to an outside company for development, thus creating a sustainable and flexible funding stream that can then be reinvested into community-based resources (see case study 2 below). Each location offers unique advantages for leveraging property to create additional resources, and the best strategies take the land's assets into account when planning. Some youth prisons occupy particularly valuable real estate that could be leased or sold to generate significant funding. For example, the Bon Air facility in Virginia sits on more than 400 acres of land in an affluent residential area less than 10 miles outside downtown Richmond. Amid discussions about renovating or closing the facility, Department of Juvenile Justice Director Andrew Block acknowledged that keeping the facility open prevents the state from taking full advantage of the real estate value of the land. Faccordingly, in its report on Bon Air in December 2018, the Department of General Services concluded that the "highest and best use for the majority of the property" was to demolish the facility and repurpose the land into a residential development (DGS 2018, 1).

Beyond commercial development, state- and locally owned land might provide options for generating revenue without selling the property. The money generated from these activities could be invested in a trust fund dedicated to providing youth services and building a community-based continuum of care and opportunity. Although we have not identified a clear precedent for this in the juvenile justice space, relevant strategies emerge from successful endeavors in other areas. For example, School Trust Lands are state-owned lands originally gifted by Congress to states when they were newly admitted to the Union to produce revenue for public education. The administration and oversight of these lands varies by state, but in fiscal year 2010 these lands collectively generated more than \$2.2 billion in revenue nationally. The most profitable sources were oil and gas royalties (\$1.4 billion), the sale of forest products such as timber (\$242 million), royalties from other minerals such as coal (\$220 million), and the sale of agriculture and grazing rights (\$100 million). ¹⁶ Most important, this funding was generated without selling any land, meaning there are opportunities for continued revenue generation. By legal mandate, these funds are used for public education. In Oregon, for example, trust lands and any related income belong to the Common School Fund. The State Land Board, which manages the trust, distributes a portion of the annual revenue to public education every year; from 2015 to 2017, distributions were expected to amount to more than \$136 million. ¹⁷ School Trust Lands (and the significant revenue that they have generated in various states) provide an example of how

states and localities that own land can create sustainable funding streams without relinquishing ownership of the property, and how the generated revenue can be reinvested in a trust that provides ongoing funding to benefit youth and families.

Additionally, depending on the location, landowners might have the option to sell the development rights to their land in exchange for a one-time monetary payment. Although usually customized depending on the locality, Purchase of Development Rights (PDR) programs generally permanently restrict development of the land; however, the owner maintains authority to use, lease, or sell the land for other purposes (such as farming) specified in the agreement (Miller and Krieger 2004). PDR opportunities might be available or particularly lucrative for land in which local, state, or federal government agencies have a vested interest in inhibiting development, such as areas surrounding military bases. ¹⁸

For more information on school trust lands, see A Magnificent Endowment: America's School Trust Lands. Your Guide to Making a Difference.

CASE STUDY 2

Funding Youth Services through Land Leasing and Development in Fort Worth, Texas

The Lena Pope nonprofit organization in Fort Worth, Texas, provides counseling and education services to youth and families, but its community-based service design has not always been its primary business model. Founded in 1930, the organization initially oversaw orphanages and subsequently shifted toward providing residential treatment and group homes. In the mid-20th century, the organization saw the need for more land and facilities, and the board of directors helped to purchase a large property on the condition that Lena Pope would never sell the land. Around the turn of the century, and in response to emerging evidence of the advantages of keeping youth in the family setting, the Lena Pope Home slowly divested from residential treatment and fully invested in community-based care. As of 2018, Lena Pope provides no residential services. The organization offers community-based care focused on early intervention and prevention for youth at risk of being removed from their homes, with services including education and counseling.

As Lena Pope transitioned from residential care, it developed a two-part plan to use the land it owned to continue to support the organization's mission. First, it repurposed several buildings into a campus (including classrooms, a recreational space, and a cafeteria) to support the county's Juvenile Justice Alternative Education Program. The unique public-private partnership (as well as the open, campus-style setting) has been so successful that the program continues to be one of the highest-rated alternative education campuses in the state, receiving a grade of 100 percent in the past two state audits.¹⁹ The second part of the repurposing plan was to demolish several group homes and make the

vacated land available for commercial development. After a competitive bidding process, Lena Pope signed a 60-year land lease with a shopping center developer, who pays an annual base rent along with additional incremental payments based on occupancy. The developer of the shopping center also contributes a proportion of its annual profits to the organization. Through these mechanisms, Lena Pope now collects approximately \$1 million a year, which is used to provide comprehensive counseling and education services to children and youth and fill the gap between cost and reimbursement for high-quality programming. At the end of the 60 years, land ownership will revert to Lena Pope, which will have the option to re-lease it to the same or a different entity.

Lena Pope has both repurposed existing buildings and leveraged its land value to support its transition from residential care to community-based services. This effort involved leveraging knowledgeable partners, such as real estate experts; focusing on solutions that will produce sustainable (as opposed to finite) funding, such as leasing the land instead of selling it; and working with community leaders throughout the process. Although ownership of a valuable plot of land was also integral to Lena Pope's success, this innovative model is worthy of consideration in other jurisdictions.

Maximizing Existing State and Federal Funding Opportunities

While many look to the juvenile justice system first, other state- and federally funded programs can be tapped to fund community-based services and supports for youth and their families. The best available information suggests that as many as half of all youth referred to the juvenile justice system are also enrolled in the child welfare system, while many more have likely experienced neglect or trauma (NJJN 2016). States have also reported that anywhere from 29 to 100 percent of justice-involved youth are enrolled in Medicaid (Zemel and Kaye 2009). In short, the population of youth and families accessing services from different systems including juvenile justice, child welfare, housing, and public health overlaps significantly. These systems share responsibility for collaboratively addressing the needs of youth clients and their families, and state and federal funding streams outside the juvenile justice system can and do support services for youth who are, or are at risk of becoming, justice-involved. Further, funding streams that support development efforts in communities experiencing concentrated disadvantage can provide critical resources for a well-resourced continuum of care and opportunity.

States and localities across the country have implemented strategies to combine different sources of funding to support coordinated service delivery for all youth, including those who are justice-involved. Take Wraparound Milwaukee (WRAP). WRAP is a system of care established in 1994 with a six-year, \$15 million federal grant from the Center for Mental Health Services (a branch of the

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration). Originally intended to serve children at immediate risk of out-of-home placement (as identified by the child welfare or juvenile justice systems), WRAP now integrates mental health, juvenile justice, child welfare, and education systems to serve children with serious emotional, behavioral, and mental health needs. WRAP takes a family-focused, individualized approach and has served 11,000 young people over the past two decades. WRAP is continually funded through a combination of state and county agencies, including the state's Medicaid agency, the Milwaukee County Division of Youth and Family Services, and the Division of Milwaukee Child Protective Services. Funds from each agency are pooled and decategorized so that WRAP has flexibility in spending (Kamradt 2000). With six community partner agencies, 100 care coordinators, a network of over 200 providers, and a Children's Mobile Crisis Team that reviews each request for inpatient psychiatric care and diverts youth to community-based residential alternatives where appropriate, WRAP is well-integrated into the community.

Despite progress, funding streams across systems are often siloed, and localities struggle to collaborate across agencies and organizations to serve youth and families. Proven and promising strategies—including WRAP—often start with funding from a single source and then braid together resources from multiple streams to sustain long-term investment. Because of the overlap in service populations noted above, many federal waiver programs can be leveraged to fund services for justice-involved youth. Below, we discuss opportunities for looking beyond juvenile justice and using child welfare dollars, Medicaid, workforce and education grants, and funding to support victim services and community development to support community-based services for justice-involved youth.

FIGURE 2
Federal Funding Sources



URBAN INSTITUTE

Child Welfare Funding

Youth involved in both child welfare and juvenile justice systems are often referred to as cross-over, dual-status, or dually involved youth. Dually involved youth often have histories of trauma and/or neglect that are critical for caregivers to be aware of and responsive to, but which can go undetected as a result of poor information sharing between systems (Herz et al. 2012). Dually involved youth are disproportionally youth of color (Chapin Hall Center for Children 2008), are disproportionally female relative to the overall juvenile justice system population, and have disparate, generally worse case outcomes than those who are not involved in the child welfare system (Herz et al. 2012). For example, foster youth are more likely to be detained than non-foster youth charged with crimes of similar

severity (Conger and Ross 2006). Increased coordination between the child welfare and juvenile justice system is one way to potentially improve outcomes for youth (see case study 3). Several federal grant programs allow for flexible spending that can be used to provide targeted support to these populations.

One such program, the Title IV-E Child Welfare Waiver Demonstration program, authorizes states to use federal dollars flexibly to pursue innovation in child welfare service delivery and financing (James Bell Associates 2018). Several states have used child welfare waivers to target services for youth involved (or at risk of becoming involved) in the juvenile justice system. For example, Illinois operates a Family Recovery and Reunification Program that focuses on families whose children have been removed because of a parent's substance-related maltreatment. Since the program's implementation, the state has seen an increase in the number of children exiting foster care and a decrease in the number subsequently involved in the juvenile justice system (Ryan and Huang 2012).²¹ Indiana used the Title IV-E waivers to provide targeted services to children adjudicated delinquent and children at risk of abuse, neglect, or delinquency through county-specific tactics that included counseling, increased assistance to families, home-based services, and material assistance (Loman, Filonow, and Siegal 2011). Ohio's Title IV-E child waivers resulted in increased collaboration between public child-serving agencies and juvenile courts and more program and staffing options to serve justice-involved youth.²² (Under the recently enacted Families First Prevention Services Act discussed below, these waivers are scheduled to end in September 2019, though there is ongoing advocacy and legislation under consideration to extend waivers.)23

Another such program, the Families First Prevention Services Act, was signed into law on February 9, 2018. The Act includes new prevention services funding under Title IV-E that can be used to address mental health and substance use treatment needs for children who are at risk of entering foster care but who can remain safely in their homes while receiving services.²⁴ If fully implemented, this funding could be leveraged to provide treatment (and activities similar to those provided under the Title IV-E program) to justice-involved youth while they remain in the community.

For more examples and guidance on coordinating child welfare and juvenile justice funding, see the Guidebook for Juvenile Justice & Child Welfare System Coordination and Integration and Addressing the Needs of Multi-System Youth: Strengthening the Connection between Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice.

CASE STUDY 3

Restructuring Agencies to Support a Continuum of Care for All Youth in Onondaga County

Stakeholders in Onondaga County, New York (Syracuse) have been working since 2013 to more effectively deploy both child welfare and juvenile justice resources to improve outcomes for youth and families. Historically, the county probation agency oversaw juvenile justice services while child welfare was run by a separate child and family services agency. Under the leadership of the Deputy County Executive for Human Services, and with the goal of becoming more child-centered with strategies to address all needs in one place, Onondaga reorganized the county charter and got permission from the state to create a single Department of Children and Family Services to oversee juvenile justice, mental health, child welfare, school-based initiatives, and the Youth Bureau. This reorganization brought together funding for various services into a single budget and facilitated more coordinated crosssystems work. For example, Onondaga invested \$500,000 in 2016 in community-based services in localities with disproportionately high numbers of justice system-involved youth. Competitive grants were awarded to grassroots, community-based providers in the three zip codes that produced 60 percent of juvenile justice placements. Early outcomes have been positive and spurred additional investment in subsequent years. For example, targeted communities saw a decline of 17 percent in detention cases and 16 percent in placements between 2016 and 2018.25 Onondaga is demonstrating that investing child welfare dollars in new, community-based strategies for justice-involved youth can produce better outcomes, support communities, and save taxpayer dollars.

Medicaid is another funding stream that can be tapped creatively to support services for justice-involved youth who are Medicaid-eligible (see box 4 below for an important caution). Medicaid is a means-tested federal program set up to provide health care to people earning below 133 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL). In most states, the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) further expands coverage to children in families with income below 200–300 percent of the poverty level (Wiig and Tuell 2013). Given that the majority of youth involved in the juvenile justice system live in poverty (Birckhead 2012), most are eligible for Medicaid when not detained, particularly dually involved youth who are automatically eligible when in foster care. Medicaid can be used to support a wide range of services, including multisystemic interventions and interventions in nonmedical settings. Returns the support and the

Though Medicaid funds cannot be used while a youth is detained,²⁹ funds can support eligible youth on probation, parole, or home release (MACPAC 2018). Crucially, Medicaid can be suspended (rather than terminated) while youth are detained to allow more seamless access to resources after release (Hanlon, May, and Kaye 2008). Additionally, the juvenile justice system can leverage contact with vulnerable youth to enroll them in Medicaid. For example, in Texas, all youth who come into contact

with the juvenile justice system are screened for Medicaid eligibility, both at time of arrest and during trial. Though 97 percent of these youths are not incarcerated, many receive health care from Medicaid quickly as a result of their justice-system contact.³⁰

Medicaid waivers can be leveraged to expand coverage to youth not already enrolled in Medicaid and/or fund a range of services for youth involved or at risk of becoming involved with the juvenile justice system. However, there are limitations in the types of resources that can be provided. For instance, Medicaid cannot be used to pay rent on housing; however, it can be used to help people find and maintain housing.³¹ Waiver options include the following:

- Section 1115 waivers³² support creative use of funds by allowing broad changes in eligibility, benefits, cost sharing, and provider payments in Medicaid and CHIP programs.³³ Several states have used Section 1115 waivers to expand Medicaid coverage for justice-involved people. For example, the California Medi-Cal 2020 waiver is used to coordinate care for vulnerable populations, including justice-involved individuals. Utah's Section 1115 waiver expands eligibility to justice-involved adults with substance use or mental health needs (MACPAC 2018).
- Home and community-based services waivers³⁴ allow states to flexibly employ alternatives to institutionalized care for people with long-term health needs. The waiver can be used to target populations at risk of institutionalization, such as people with behavioral conditions or people with intellectual disabilities.³⁵ The New York Bridges to Health program uses the waiver to provide wraparound services to children in foster care with significant mental health or developmental disabilities. Bridges to Health provides a range of services, including vocational training and placement, crisis response services, and intensive in-home supports. Once children enter the waiver program, they can retain services until the age of 21, even if they leave the foster care system.³⁶ This waiver program supports dually involved youth and facilitates moving children and young adults from hospitals or institutions to homes.

For more examples and guidance on coordinating Medicaid and juvenile justice funding, see A Multi-Agency Approach to Using Medicaid to Meet the Health Needs of Juvenile Justice-Involved Youth.

BOX 4

The Danger of Medicalizing Behavior to Expand Eligibility for Services

Many justice-involved youths have significant health needs. For instance, up to 75 percent of detained youth have a mental health or substance abuse disorder (Acoca, Stephens, and Van Fleet 2014). However, medical funding sources present the danger of medicalizing or pathologizing normal youth behaviors in order to secure funding for service delivery. Many programs supported by Medicaid and Child Welfare Waivers require a substance abuse, mental health, behavioral disorder, or intellectual disability diagnosis for youth to be considered eligible. It is important to ensure that creative funding strategies do not contribute to unnecessary diagnoses, particularly given the likelihood that this would disproportionately impact youth of color who are already overrepresented at every point in the juvenile justice process.

Workforce and Education Grants

In addition to child welfare and Medicaid, federal workforce and education grants hold potential to fund services for youth who are involved (or at risk of becoming involved) in the juvenile justice system. These grants have the benefit of not requiring a medical diagnosis for eligibility and support a range of strategies to build life skills, further education and employment goals, and promote positive youth developmental outcomes that complement treatment and service provision. Examples include the following:

- Pell grants. Pell grants are federal grants intended to help people who demonstrate exceptional financial need pay for college.³⁷ Though people incarcerated in state or federal prison are ineligible for these grants, justice-involved youth in the community or those placed in juvenile correctional facilities are eligible as long as they meet certain other requirements.³⁸ The amount of each grant varies depending on the level of financial need, the cost of attendance, and status as a full- or part-time student. The maximum grant in the 2018–2019 academic year was \$6,095.³⁹ Unlike student loans, Pell grants do not have to be repaid.
- Workforce and education grants. The Workforce Investment Act of 1998 and the superseding Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) of 2014 were enacted to create a comprehensive workforce investment system that enhances the workforce's productivity. 40 The WIOA's youth program provides formula funds for states to help out-of-school youth (ages 16–24) and in-school youth (ages 14–21) with at least one barrier to employment—such as those with felony records, with disabilities, living in foster care, or experiencing homelessness—

prepare for postsecondary education or employment. ⁴¹ The new WIOA requires that 75 percent of funds go toward out-of-school youth (compared with the 30 percent required by the Workforce Investment Act) and that 20 percent of youth funds support work experiences. Some localities have committed to spending 100 percent of their funds on out-of-school youth: for example, Los Angeles's Performance Partnership Pilot integrates service delivery of education, workforce, and social services. ⁴²

Additionally, WIOA authorized one-stop career centers that youth in foster care and the juvenile justice system can access.⁴³ Many one-stop career centers employ a reentry point person to assist people who have been justice-involved. WIOA funds can also be used to provide education such as vocational training or special education in correctional settings.⁴⁴

YouthBuild is one of the largest youth programs under WIOA. 44 states fund YouthBuild (a nonprofit organization) to help address disconnected youth experiencing poverty and unemployment. YouthBuild provides essential pathways to employment through skill-building in construction, GED and certificate programs, and community service opportunities.⁴⁵

WIOA also authorized funding through the Reentry Employment Opportunities program to serve justice-involved youth and young adults.⁴⁶ The Department of Labor awarded \$84.4 million in 2018 to 41 nonprofits and state and local governments for reentry projects serving both young adults and other adults.⁴⁷ Projects encompass a multitude of services both before and after release.

For more on workforce investment and education grants, see the Federal Student Air Pell Grant; the American Youth Policy Forum's Fact Sheet on Education and Workforce Related Policies Affecting Systems-Involved Youth; and the Department of Labor's Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act Fact Sheet: Youth Programs.

Victims of Crime Act Funding

In 1984, Congress established a Crime Victims Fund through the Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) that directs revenue collected through fines and fees associated with federal crimes to support compensation and services for victims of crime. As of fiscal year 2015–16, the fund had a balance of more than \$11 billion, a portion of which was allocated for disbursement annually. In 2016, Congress both increased the amount of funding available and released revised guidance that expanded the potential use of funds. Among other changes, VOCA funding can now be used to support services for children who have been exposed to violence or bullying and is no longer restricted at the federal level

for victims who are system-involved or have a prior conviction. Funding priority is given for underserved populations, and people are eligible to receive services while incarcerated. ⁵⁰ Though it is still early to see the full impact of these new potential investments, states are already directing VOCA funding into a wide range of services. ⁵¹ For example, Oklahoma used newly available funds to establish two new family assistance centers, and Washington expanded services to federally recognized Native American tribes.

For more on strategies for leveraging VOCA funding, see the National Juvenile Justice Network's The Crime Victims Fund: A Primer for Youth Justice Advocates and the National Association of VOCA Assistance Administrators' VOCA Crime Victims Fund Briefing Background 2017.

Community Development Block Grant Funding

The Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program is administered by the Department of Housing and Urban Development and distributes more than \$3 billion annually to states and localities to support sustainable housing, expand economic opportunities, and provide services in the most disadvantaged communities. Si Since 1974, this funding has provided local governments with resources to develop and implement tailored solutions to the challenges their residents face. Localities have used this funding to support a wide range of services for youth and families. For example, Bridgeport, Connecticut, leveraged CDBG funds to secure additional state resources that support afterschool programming, parenting classes, juvenile justice programs, and crisis intervention. Chicago used part of its CDBG allocation to fund restorative practices in schools to curb expulsions and push out in to the juvenile justice system. Lawrenceville, Kansas, allocated CDBG resources to the local Boys and Girls Club to build a new teen center. Si

For more on strategies for leveraging CDBG funding, see the HUD CDBG resource page and the United States Conference of Mayors' CDBG Works: How Mayors Put CDBG to Work.

Implementing Innovative Strategies to Fund Community Investment

While many states and localities are looking beyond the juvenile justice system to identify new funds to invest in youth development strategies, the scope and scale required to reverse historical

underinvestment in communities disproportionately impacted by incarceration has led residents to think even bigger and develop and implement their own solutions. Here we outline six outside-the-box strategies for redirecting existing resources to community priorities or generating new funds to support a continuum of care and opportunity for youth: leveraging a new tax, Pay for Success (PFS) models, participatory budgeting, Opportunity Zones, anchor institutions, and cannabis legalization.

FIGURE 3
Innovative Funding Strategies



URBAN INSTITUTE

Leveraging a New Tax to Develop Sustainable Funding

One strategy for generating new revenue to support youth is to create a state or local tax specifically for that purpose. Oakland, California, illustrates the unique advantages of this approach. In 2004, voters

approved Measure Y, a ballot initiative with a 10-year time horizon that created new parcel and parking taxes to generate additional revenue for police and fire services, and to fund a grant program that supports community providers engaged in violence prevention and intervention efforts. Voters chose to extend the program by 10 years by passing Measure Z in 2014, demonstrating their confidence in this approach. The fact that the violence reduction grant program involved a steady funding stream over multiple years meant that the program administrators could pass on that stability to grantees, providing technical assistance and supporting a rigorous evaluation to help document and share the program's successes. ⁵⁴ In the 2017–2018 fiscal year, Measure Z funds supported an \$8 million investment in 26 community-based violence prevention and intervention organizations and agencies (Gonzalez et al. 2017). Oakland Unite, the division of the city's Human Services Department that oversees distribution of these funds, has also built upon this steady funding source by securing \$15 million in additional funding from state and federal sources between 2011 and 2018. ⁵⁵

Pinellas County, Florida, created a similar local tax structure for funding local children's services, that has been in place for over half a century. In 1945, Pinellas County voters passed a ballot referendum to approve a new county property tax to support children's services and create a local juvenile welfare board to oversee fund disbursement. In the decades since, the board has focused on improving services for children in foster care, providing family therapy and other supportive programs, and increasing access to quality day care programs. For Today, the board focuses on providing services to youth living in areas of concentrated poverty with a focus on four core goals: school readiness, school success, prevention of abuse and neglect, and strengthening community support and prevention. In fiscal year 2018, the juvenile welfare board invested nearly \$57 million in programs and services.

For more on strategies for leveraging tax revenue, see Local Progress's Strategy Report on Progressive Policies for Raising Municipal Revenue and the Ballot Initiative Strategy Center.

For more on Oakland's Measure Z, see Oakland's overview of the Safety and Services Act of 2014 and Oakland Unite, particularly its research and reports that show the impact the collaborative is having on outcomes for community members.

For more on Pinellas County's juvenile welfare board, see the juvenile welfare board website and the juvenile welfare board fact sheet.

Pay for Success Models

Pay for Success (PFS) models are innovative financing mechanisms that allow governments to link financing with improved outcomes for communities. This could include leveraging private and philanthropic funds to implement evidence-based social programs or providing bonus payments based on observed outcomes. In the PFS model, also known as a social impact bond, an outside investor provides the up-front capital for programmatic costs. If a program achieves the predefined outcomes for its target population (as determined by an independent empirical evaluation), then the government repays the investor(s) with interest. If outcomes are not met, then the government does not pay. This model shifts financial and reputational risk from the government to external investors and promotes rigorous evaluation and meaningful outcomes. PFS has been used to forge collaboration between government, service providers, investors, intermediaries, and evaluators around specific criminal justice projects (Hawkins et al. 2017).

The first PFS project in the US was launched in 2013 by the City of New York, Bloomberg Philanthropies, Goldman Sachs, and MDRC. The program, referred to as the Adolescent Behavioral Learning Experience, aimed to reduce recidivism of justice-involved youth at New York City's Rikers Island jail by 10 percent. When the program did not hit its benchmark of an 8.5 percent reduction in recidivism, the program ended and the city did not have to repay investors. Though the program is the only complete or terminated PFS project in the US, several PFS projects currently in development or in progress specifically target juvenile justice populations and vulnerable populations at risk of system involvement more broadly. Current PFS projects include Illinois's Dually-Involved Youth Project and Massachusetts's Juvenile Justice PFS Initiative.

Federal money is being invested to support the PFS approach. The Social Impact Partnership to Pay for Results Act was signed into law in February 2018. The Act creates a US Treasury fund of up to \$100 million to be used to make outcome payments and conduct feasibility studies of PFS projects. This fund will help states and localities further implement social impact projects that specifically generate savings for the federal government.⁵⁹

While PFS shows potential for engaging the private sector to address social problems, it has important limitations. Projects often have a long development timeline, and implementation can be cumbersome with so many stakeholders. Further, PFS projects do not always align with market-rate returns, making it challenging to capture investor interest. Finally, PFS projects are individualized to local contexts, making them difficult for other jurisdictions to replicate (Hawkins et al. 2017).

For more information on PFS, see the Urban Institute's Pay for Success Initiative and the Pay for Success Learning Hub.

For more information on intermediaries who deliver technical assistance in the PFS process, see Social Finance, a nonprofit organization working collaboratively across the public, private, and social sectors to mobilize capital and drive social progress, and Third Sector Capital Partners, a nonprofit advisory firm that works with governments, nonprofits, and private funders to build evidence-based solutions to improve social service provision.

Participatory Budgeting

Participatory budgeting, a process in which communities collectively determine how to spend a certain amount of public resources, is another strategy that some jurisdictions are using to ensure that youth input guides investment decisions. While many youth-oriented participatory budgeting programs are still new, initial evaluations of the model generally indicate that it is a promising way to engage community members in resource allocation decisions.⁶⁰

One of the first youth-led participatory budgeting programs in the US was the City of Boston's Youth Lead the Change program, created by the mayor's office in 2013. Every year, youth residents of Boston neighborhoods decide how to use \$1 million of the city's capital budget by submitting proposals for projects that benefit the city's physical infrastructure (and last at least five years), and then vote to determine which proposal gets funded. Winning projects from previous years include a performing and visual arts studio, an app with job-hunting resources, the installment of trash and recycling bins, a digital billboard with information for homeless youth, and a skate park feasibility study. Other cities have since adopted youth-oriented participatory budgeting initiatives of their own. For example, Seattle launched the Youth Voice, Youth Choice program in 2015, when more than 3,000 youth decided how to spend \$700,000 from the city's budget by casting their votes to select seven priority projects. In 2017, the program was expanded to include all Seattle residents and renamed Your Voice, Your Choice.

Schools around the country are also engaging in youth-led participatory budgeting. The Phoenix Union High School District in Arizona was the first in the nation to engage in participatory budgeting at the district level, with students from five high schools voting—with over 80 percent voter turnout—on how to allocate \$26,000 in funds. Projects that received the most votes included a music program, shady outdoor spaces, water stations, and a study lounge. ⁶⁵ In 2018, New York City Mayor Bill de Blasio

announced a plan for a participatory budgeting program in all of the city's over 400 high schools, each of which would receive \$2,000 for students to allocate. ⁶⁶ Other communities are using participatory budgeting to target resources at specific schools. For example, the Tacoma-Pierce County Health Department in Washington State secured a \$100,000 grant to support participatory budgeting projects at two elementary schools and one high school. All three schools were chosen because they serve communities with lower health outcomes, and their projects are ongoing. ⁶⁷

For more information about participatory budgeting, see the Participatory Budgeting Project and Youth Lead the Change: Participatory Budgeting 2016, Boston University.

Opportunity Zones

The Opportunity Zone program, established by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in December 2017, provides a tax incentive to individuals, businesses, or organizations who invest in specified economically distressed areas called Opportunity Zones. The designation of these zones is intended to encourage private investment in low-income communities across the country. Individuals or entities can reinvest gains from a prior investment into Opportunity Funds, which can then be used to support a wide range of projects within an Opportunity Zone. In return, investors are eligible for a number of generous tax benefits. Unlike some other similar tax benefits, there is no cap on the benefit that investors can receive. Although the program is still new, some projects are already under way. Motivated by Opportunity Zone tax breaks, Goldman Sachs's Urban Investment Group recently invested \$83 million into a mixed-use property in Long Island City that will include more than 900 affordable housing units and is being developed by the Gotham Organization, a New York City development firm.

Taking advantage of Opportunity Funds could catalyze significant investment in community-based resources. The federal government has certified 8,700 Opportunity Zones in all 50 states, and within each zone there are relatively few federal limitations on the size or type of project that qualifies. Communities that fall within Opportunity Zones can leverage the tax benefits to attract private investment dollars into a community-driven initiative or offer currently owned land to Opportunity Zone fund developers. Additionally, communities can enlist anchor institutions such as local universities or hospitals, as part of their development efforts; Opportunity Zone designations nationwide were made with consideration of proximity to these institutions, which have a vested interest in their surrounding communities and can contribute to local improvements in ways that align with their missions and assets.

For more information on Opportunity Zones, see From Transactions to Transformation: How Cities Can Maximize Opportunity Zones; Guiding Principles for Opportunity Zones⁷²; and IRS, Opportunity Zones: Frequently Asked Questions.

Anchor Institutions

Anchor institutions are entities that are inextricably tied to their local communities, such as universities or hospitals. These institutions have a vested interest in the development and prosperity of their communities, although that interest can fall short of actionable contributions.

Anchor institutions can take advantage of tax benefits offered by Opportunity Zones by redirecting their own investment gains into locally driven community empowerment projects. Additionally, although anchor institutions often have competitive relationships with each other, community organizations or other private-sector partners can seek to mobilize institutions around a shared goal and leverage unique assets for the betterment of the community. The Albuquerque Community Foundation brought together six anchor institutions—ranging from Albuquerque Public Schools to Presbyterian Healthcare Services—and created Healthy Neighborhoods Albuquerque, a crossinstitution partnership aimed at supporting local businesses and investing in disadvantaged Albuquerque neighborhoods by, for example, focusing on hiring local workers and buying local goods. By developing their own agendas in pursuit of these collective goals, these institutions now cooperate in ways that benefit their own financial situations as well as their local community.⁷³

Lastly, some anchor institutions—particularly those with special tax statuses—might be subject to legislative requirements that can be leveraged to benefit the community. For example, the Affordable Care Act requires nonprofit hospitals to meet several community benefit requirements in order to maintain their tax-exempt status, such as conducting an assessment of the community's health needs at least once every three years and developing strategies to address those needs. ⁷⁴ Working with hospitals to meet this requirement could result in the creation of a needs assessment for specific populations—such as at-risk youth—or at least inform gaps in the existing continuum of care for justice-involved and at-risk youth.

For more information on anchor institutions, see Funders' Network for Smart Growth and Livable Communities, Anchored in Place: How Funders are Helping Anchor Institutions Strengthen Local

Economies; Democracy Collaborative, Anchor Institutions web page; and Nixon Peabody LLP, Using Qualified Opportunity Zones to Attract Private Investment for Campus Edge Projects.

Cannabis Legalization

Savings generated from cannabis legalization can be reinvested into community-based services in order to increase funding for a continuum of care for youth. In November 2012, voters in Colorado and Washington approved ballot measures that legalized the use of marijuana for adults in their states. Multiple other states passed their own reforms in the following years, with Vermont becoming the first state to legalize marijuana through a state legislature in 2018. As of 2018, every state that had legalized marijuana had seen a decrease in marijuana arrests, resulting in significant financial savings (Drug Policy Alliance 2018). Additionally, revenue from marijuana taxes has exceeded expectations. Colorado has generated nearly \$600 million from marijuana sales since the start of 2014, and Washington generated more than \$300 million in marijuana sales tax revenue in just one year (2016–17; Drug Policy Alliance 2018). Many states have chosen to reinvest these savings into other priorities such as education and behavioral health treatment. Some states that have legalized cannabis more recently—including California and Massachusetts—will reinvest revenue generated from marijuana sales into communities that have been most impacted by incarceration and the War on Drugs. In California, where voters approved a ballot measure legalizing marijuana in 2016, a community reinvestment grant program will use revenue from the cannabis tax to fund community-based programs that provide services such as mental health treatment, job placement, and medical care. These grants will start in fiscal year 2019 at \$10 million and will increase by an additional \$10 million each year, eventually reaching \$50 million by fiscal year 2023.⁷⁵ In addition, after off-the-top funding is distributed, 60 percent of the remaining revenue from the cannabis tax will be allocated for substance abuse education, prevention, and treatment programs for youth, with programs ranging from intergenerational counseling services to workforce training.76

For more information on cannabis legalization, see Drug Policy Alliance, From Prohibition to Progress: A Status Report on Marijuana Legalization (January 2018).

Conclusion

Juvenile justice reform has fundamentally shifted the country's approach to youth justice over the past two decades, moving the field away from incarceration and toward community-based solutions for youth. Yet there remains a critical need to build out a well-resourced continuum of care and opportunity for youth and families in their home communities that offers the supports and opportunities required to prevent and address harmful and illegal behavior. Structural inequalities result in the reality that some communities simply do not have the resources to offer all youth the same access to education, jobs, health care, supports, and opportunities that promote healthy development and safe neighborhoods. Yet youth development, healing, and rehabilitation happens at home, and it is imperative to find a way to build on existing community assets and develop a network of services and opportunities that meet evolving youth and family needs. Resourcing a continuum of care and opportunity in communities that experience concentrated disadvantage requires substantial investment, cross-agency collaboration, and collective ownership of a shared responsibility to ensure that all communities have the resources needed to promote healthy development and positive outcomes for all youth. This is the next frontier of juvenile justice reform, and the strategies outlined here provide a menu for thinking big and finding creative ways to invest in youth and families and the communities in which they live.

Notes

- Throughout this report, boxes are used to provide contextual information critical to the narrative and highlight specific examples.
- ² "Easy Access to the Census of Juveniles in Residential Placement (EZACJRP)," National Center for Juvenile Justice, June 1, 2017; Jake Horowitz and Arna Carlock, "Juvenile Commitment Rate Falls by Half Nationally in Ten Years," PEW, September 18, 2017, https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/articles/2017/09/18/juvenile-commitment-rate-falls-by-half-nationally-in-10-years.
- "Statistical Briefing Book," OJJDP (Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention), October 22, 2018, http://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/crime/JAR_Display.asp?ID=qa05201.
- ⁴ "State Leaders Recognize 10-Year Milestone of Juvenile Justice Realignment," Chief Probation Officers of California, press release, October 26, 2017, https://www.cpoc.org/press-release/state-leaders-recognize-10-year-milestone-juvenile-justice-realignment.
- Felipe Franco, "How New York City Achieved an Historic Drop in Youth Detention Admissions," Juvenile Justice Information Exchange, December 10, 2018, https://jjie.org/2018/12/10/how-new-york-city-achieved-an-historic-drop-in-youth-detention-admissions/.
- ⁶ "Re-examining Juvenile Incarceration: High Cost, Poor Outcomes Spark Shift to Alternatives," PEW Charitable Trusts, April 20, 2015, https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2015/04/reexamining-juvenile-incarceration.
- Josh Weber and Nancy Arrigona, "Reducing Recidivism for Youth in the Juvenile Services Division of the Kansas Department of Corrections: Analyses and Recommendations" (Topeka: KDOC [Kansas Department of Corrections], 2015); "Cost Study of Youth Residential Centers for Juvenile Offenders-Pursuant to Senate Substitute for House Bill 2588." Topeka: KDOC; KDOC. 2017. Annual Report 2016. Topeka: KDOC.
- ⁸ DJJ (Department of Juvenile Justice), "Data Resource Guide Fiscal Year 2016." (Richmond: Virginia Department of Juvenile Justice, 2016).
- "Kansas' 2016 Juvenile Justice Reform," The Pew Charitable Trusts, June 2017, https://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2017/06/pspp_kansas_2016_juvenile_justice_reform_brief.pdf.
- "KDOC's Juvenile Services Reform Generating Reinvestment Funds," Kansas Department of Corrections, June 28, 2017, https://www.doc.ks.gov/newsroom/releases/archive/2017/Reinvestment.
- ¹¹ 2018 Budget Act (Senate Bill 840, Chapter 29, Statutes of 2018) and the related trailer bill (Assembly Bill 1812, Chapter 36, Statutes of 2018).
- DJJ (Department of Juvenile Justice), "Data Resource Guide Fiscal Year 2017" (Richmond: Virginia Department of Juvenile Justice, 2017).
- ¹³ DJJ, "Data Resource Guide Fiscal Year 2017."
- ¹⁴ "Home Page," Growing Change, http://www.growingchange.org/.
- Michael Martz, "Lawmakers ponder options for Bon Air juvenile correctional facility," Richmond Times-Dispatch, October 6, 2016, https://www.richmond.com/news/virginia/government-politics/general-assembly/lawmakers-ponder-options-for-bon-air-juvenile-correctional-facility/article_291def79-6790-501a-9b42-6c55698cc0a9.html.

- Project LEARN (Land-grant Education and Research Network), "A Magnificent Endowment: America's School Trust Lands. Your Guide to Making a Difference," 2013, https://www.idl.idaho.gov/land-board/lb/documents-long-term/class-trust-lands.pdf.
- ¹⁷ "About the Agency," Oregon Department of State Lands, accessed 1/7/2019, https://www.oregon.gov/dsl/About/Pages/AboutAgency.aspx.
- See for example: Julianne Sanford, "Navy pays \$4.92 million for easement fees in Jefferson County," Kitsap Sun, 10/14/2017.
- ¹⁹ Texas Juvenile Justice Department, Audit Documentation.
- ²⁰ "2016 Wraparound Milwaukee Year End Report," Wraparound Milwaukee.
- Decreased juvenile justice involvement is for youth ages 10 and older. See Summary of Child Welfare Waiver Demonstration by Jurisdiction.
- ²² Profiles of the Title IV-E Child Welfare Waiver Demonstration Projects, 1996-2012.
- ²³ See, for example, recent discussions in the Chronicles of Social Change: https://chronicleofsocialchange.org/finance-reform/waiver-push-uncertain-as-family-first-implementation-looms and https://chronicleofsocialchange.org/child-welfare-2/feinstein-rubio-draft-legislation-extend-child-welfare-waivers.
- 24 "Family First Prevention Services Act: Overview," National Conference of State Legislatures, http://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/family-first-prevention-services-act-ffpsa.aspx#PART%20I; "Time-Limited Foster Care Prevention Program and Services," New York Office of Children and Family Services, https://ocfs.ny.gov/main/fostercare/titleiv-e/FamilyFirst/IM-18-02-Attach-B.pdf.
- Presentation to the Partnership for Youth Justice Steering Committee, Onondaga County Department of Children and Family Services, February 13, 2019.
- 26 "Program History," Medicaid, accessed March 4, 2019, https://www.medicaid.gov/about-us/program-history/index.html.
- ²⁷ CB (Children's Bureau). 2015. "Health-Care Coverage for Youth in Foster Care—And After."
- "Mental_Health_Services in Juvenile_Justice: Who pays? What gets paid for? And who gets to decide?," Models for Change: Systems Reform in Juvenile Justice, http://www.njjn.org/uploads/digital-library/Knowledge_Brief_Mental_Health_Services_in_Juvenile_Justice_Who_pays_Models_for_Change_12.1.11. pdf.
- ²⁹ Except when detained individuals are hospitalized for more than 24 hours in facilities that do not exclusively serve individuals who are incarcerated.
- ³⁰ "Medicaid for Juvenile Justice-Involved Children," (NCSL) National Conference of State Legislatures.
- Michael Ollove, "States Freed to Use Medicaid Money for Housing," Stateline (blog), The Pew Charitable Trusts, November 20, 2015, https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2015/11/20/states-freed-to-use-medicaid-money-for-housing.
- 32 Social Security Act of 1935, 42 USC § 1315, https://www.ssa.gov/OP Home/ssact/title11/1115.htm.
- ³³ "About Section 1115 Demonstrations," Medicaid, https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/section-1115-demo/about-1115/index.html.
- ³⁴ Social Security Act of 1935, 42 USC § 1396n, https://www.ssa.gov/OP_Home/ssact/title19/1915.htm.

- 35 "Home and Community-Based Services 1915(c)," Medicaid, https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/hcbs/authorities/1915-c/index.html.
- 36 "B2H (Bridges to Health) Family Services," New York State Office of Children and Family Services, https://ocfs.ny.gov/main/b2h/.
- ³⁷ "Federal Pell Grants," Federal Student Aid, https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/types/grants-scholarships/pell.
- 38 See federal guidance from 2014: https://ifap.ed.gov/dpcletters/attachments/GEN1421.pdf.
- ³⁹ "Federal Pell Grants," Federal Student Aid, https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/types/grants-scholarships/pell.
- 40 "WIOA Overview," US Department of Labor, December 20, 2018, https://www.doleta.gov/wioa/overview.cfm; Workforce Investment Act of 1998, 20 CFR Part 652 (Final Rule), DOL Employment and Training Administration, https://www.doleta.gov/regs/statutes/finalrule.htm.
- ⁴¹ "WIOA Youth Program Fact Sheet 2018," WorkforceGPS, updated March 2018, https://youth.workforcegps.org/resources/2017/08/29/08/48/FactSheet.
- 42 "2017-2020 Strategic Plan Serving Disconnected Youth," Los Angeles Performance Partnership Pilot, July 1 2017, https://workforce.lacounty.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/071417_P3_StrategicPlan_v12-FINAL.pdf.
- ⁴³ "Fact Sheet: Education and Workforce Related Policies Affecting Systems-Involved Youth," AYPF (American Youth Policy Forum," http://www.aypf.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Fact-Sheet_Education-and-Workforce-Related-Policies.pdf; "The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Fact Sheet: Youth Program," Employment and Training Administration (US Department of Labor), https://www.doleta.gov/wioa/Docs/WIOA_YouthProgram_FactSheet.pdf;
- 44 "The WIOA: What Corrections and Reentry Agencies Need to Know," The Council of State Governments Justice Center, May 2017, https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/6.13.17_WIOA_What-Corrections-and-Reentry-Agencies-Need-to-Know.pdf.
- ⁴⁵ "What We Do," YouthBuild, https://www.youthbuild.org/what-we-do.
- ⁴⁶ They also serve adults who have been previously incarcerated.
- ⁴⁷ US Department of Labor, "US Department of Labor Awards \$84.4 million for Reentry Projects to Help Americans Transition from Justice System to the Workforce, June 26, 2018, https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/eta/eta/20180626.
- ⁴⁸ "OVC Fact Sheet," Office for Victims of Crime, 2013, https://www.ovc.gov/pubs/crimevictimsfundfs/index.html.
- ⁴⁹ "The Crime Victim's Fund: A Primer for Youth Justice Advocates," NJJN (National Juvenile Justice Network), November 2016, http://www.njjn.org/our-work/the-crime-victims-fund-a-primer-for-youth-justice-advocates.
- 50 "The Crime Victim's Fund: A Primer for Youth Justice Advocates," http://www.njjn.org/our-work/the-crime-victims-fund-a-primer-for-youth-justice-advocates.
- ⁵¹ Steve Derene, "Briefing Background 2017," Victims of Crime Act (VOCA) Crime Victims Fund, 2017, http://www.navaa.org/budget/17/VOCA Backgrounder%202017.pdf.
- "Community Development Block Grant program (CDBG)," Department of Housing and Urban Development, https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/communitydevelopment/programs; "CDB Appropriations Budget," Department of Housing and Urban Development, https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/comm_planning/about/budget.
- 53 "CDBG Works: How Mayors Put CDBG to Work," The United States Conference of Mayors, June 2017, http://www.usmayors.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17.34.USCM_.CDBG_.Works_.D5.3.pdf.

- ⁵⁴ For more on Measure Y/Z, see Sakala, Harvell, and Thomson (2018).
- 55 "Home," Oakland Unite, http://oaklandunite.org/_
- ⁵⁶ "70 Years of Putting Children First," Juvenile Welfare Board, 2017, https://www.jwbpinellas.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/JWB-Historical-Booklet-70-Years-of-Putting-Children-First.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ "Strategic Planning Documents," Juvenile Welfare Board, January 3, 2018, https://www.jwbpinellas.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/01/Strategic-Plan-2017-2020.pdf.
- ⁵⁸ "Facts At-A-Glance," Juvenile Welfare Board, https://www.jwbpinellas.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/JWB-Facts-At-A-Glance-Booklet-FY18.pdf.
- ⁵⁹ "Social Impact Partnership to Pay for Results Act (SIPPRA)," Urban Institute, 2018, https://pfs.urban.org/get-started/issue-areas/content/social-impact-partnership-pay-results-act-sippra.
- ⁶⁰ See for example, "Youth Lead the Change: Participatory Budgeting," Boston University, 2016, https://www.bu.edu/ioc/files/2017/01/Youth-Lead-the-Change_Report.pdf.
- 61 "Youth Lead the Change: Participatory Budgeting," Boston University, 2016, https://www.bu.edu/ioc/files/2017/01/Youth-Lead-the-Change_Report.pdf.
- ⁶² "Collect Ideas," City of Boston," https://www.boston.gov/departments/youth-engagement-and-employment/youth-lead-change#collect-ideas.
- 63 "Youth Voice, Youth Choice," Seattle Department of Neighborhoods, https://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/programs-and-services/your-voice-your-choice/history/youth-voice-youth-choice.
- ⁶⁴ "History of Participatory Budgeting in Seattle," Seattle Department of Neighborhoods, https://www.seattle.gov/neighborhoods/programs-and-services/your-voice-your-choice/history.
- ⁶⁵ Ashley Brennan, "What Happens When Students Lead PB?," Participatory Budgeting Project, April 19, 2017, https://www.participatorybudgeting.org/what-happens-when-students-lead-pb/.
- ⁶⁶ Josh Lerner, "Mayor Launches Participatory Budgeting in All NYC High Schools," Participatory Budgeting Project, February 14, 2018, https://www.participatorybudgeting.org/mayor-launches-participatory-budgeting-nyc-high-schools/.
- ⁶⁷ "What Happens When You Give Students Money to Spend?," Tacoma Public Schools, February 16, 2018, https://www.tacomaschools.org/news/Pages/giaudrone-participatory-budgeting.aspx.
- Opportunity Zones offer three tax benefits for people who invest in Opportunity Funds. For more information, see: Economic Innovation Group, "The Tax Benefits of Investing in Opportunity Zones," January 2018. https://eig.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Tax-Benefits-of-Investing-in-Opportunity-Zones.pdf.
- ⁶⁹ "Goldman Sachs invests \$83M in Gotham Org's 1,120-unit LIC project" The Real Deal, 11/26/2018, https://therealdeal.com/2018/11/26/goldman-sachs-lends-83m-for-gotham-orgs-1120-unit-lic-project/.
- "Opportunity Zones: How Communities Can Leverage This New Provision to Jumpstart Investment," JD Supra, September 19, 2018, https://www.jdsupra.com/legalnews/opportunity-zones-how-communities-can-67745/.
- Pruce Katz and Evan Weiss, "From Transactions to Transformation: How Cities Can Maximize Opportunity Zones," The Lindy Institute for Urban Innovation at Drexel University, https://drexel.edu/lindyinstitute/initiatives/nowak-metro-finance-lab/publications/reports/opportunity-zones/.
- Pruce Katz and Jeremy Nowak, "Guiding Principles for Opportunity Zones," The New Localism, March 9, 2018, https://www.thenewlocalism.com/research/guiding-principles-for-opportunity-zones/.

- ⁷³ Katherine "Anchored in Place: How Funders Are Helping Anchor Institutions Strengthen Local Economies." Funders' Network for Smart Growth and Livable Communities, 2018.
- ⁷⁴ Julia James, "Health Policy Brief: Nonprofit Hospitals' Community Benefit Requirements," *Health Affairs*, February 25, 2016.
- ⁷⁵ California Revenue and Taxation Code, § 34019(d).
- ⁷⁶ California Revenue and Taxation Code, § 34019(f)(1).

References

- Acoca, L., J. Stephens, and A. Van Fleet. 2014. "Health Coverage and Care for Youth in the Juvenile Justice System: The Role of Medicaid and CHIP." Menlo Park, CA: The Kaiser Family Foundation.
- Aizer, A. and J. J. Doyle. 2015. "Juvenile Incarceration, Human Capital, and Future Crime: Evidence from Randomly Assigned Judges." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 130(2): 759–803.
- Birckhead, T. 2012. "Delinquent by Reason of Poverty." Washington University Journal of Law & Policy, 38 (1): 52–107.
- Chapin Hall Center for Children. 2008. "Understanding Racial and Ethnic Disparity in Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice." Chicago: Chapin Hall Center for Children at the University of Chicago.
- Conger D., and T. Ross. 2006. "Project Confirm: An Outcome Evaluation of a Program for Children in the Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice Systems." Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice 4 (1): 97–115.
- DGS (Department of General Services). 2018. "Report on Bon Air Juvenile Correctional Center." Bon Air, VA: DGS.
- Drug Policy Alliance. 2018. From Prohibition to Progress: A Status Report on Marijuana Legalization. New York: Drug Policy Alliance.
- Durnan, Julia, Robin Olsen, and Samantha Harvell. 2018. "State-Led Juvenile Justice Systems Improvement." Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Fabelo, T., N. Arrigona, M. D. Thompson, A. Clemens, and M. P. Marchbanks. 2015. "Closer to Home: An Analysis of the State and Local Impact of the Texas Juvenile Justice Reforms." New York: Council of State Governments Justice Center and The Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University.
- Hanlon, C., J. May, and N. Kaye. 2008. "A Multi-Agency Approach to Using Medicaid to Meet the Health Needs of Juvenile Justice-Involved Youth." Washington, DC: National Academy for State Health Policy.
- Harvell, Samantha, Hanna Love, Elizabeth Pelletier, and Chloe Warnberg. 2018. "Bridging Research and Practice in Juvenile Probation: Rethinking Strategies to Promote Long-Term Change." Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Hawkins, Rayanne, Mayookha Mitra-Majumdar, David McClure, and Ellen Paddock. 2017. "Using Pay for Success in Criminal Justice Projects." Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Herz, D., P. Lee et al. 2012. "Addressing the Needs of Multi-System Youth: Strengthening the Connection between Child Welfare and Juvenile Justice." Washington, DC: Georgetown University, Georgetown Public Policy Institute, Center for Juvenile Justice Reform.
- Hjalmarsson, R. 2008. "Criminal Justice Involvement and High School Completion." *Journal of Urban Economics* 63 (2): 613–30.
- IoM (Institute of Medicine) and NRC (National Research Council). 2001. *Juvenile Crime*, *Juvenile Justice*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/9747/juvenile-crime-juvenile-justice.
- James Bell Associates. 2018. "Summary of the Title IV-E Child Welfare Waiver Demonstrations." Arlington, VA: Children's Bureau.
- Justice Policy Institute. 2009. "The Cost of Confinement: Why Good Juvenile Justice Policies Make Good Fiscal Sense." Washington, DC: Justice Policy Institute.
- Kamradt, Bruce. 2000. "Wraparound Milwaukee: Aiding Youth with Mental Health Needs." Washington, DC: OJJDP (Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention).
- Loman, L.A., C.L. Filonow, and G. Siegal. 2011." Indiana IV-E Child Welfare Waiver Demonstration Extension Final Evaluation Report." St. Louis, MO: Institute of Applied Research.

REFERENCES 43

- Love, Hanna, Samantha Harvell, Chloe Warnberg, and Julia Durnan. 2018. "Transforming Closed Youth Prisons: Repurposing Facilities to Meet Community Needs." Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Love, Hanna, Elizabeth Pelletier, and Samantha Harvell. 2017. "Data Snapshot of Youth Incarceration in Connecticut," Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- MACPAC (Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission). 2016. "Issue Brief: Medicaid and the Criminal Justice System." Washington, DC: MACPAC.
- McCarthy, P., V. Schiraldi, and M. Shark. 2016. "The Future of Youth Justice: A Community-Based Alternative to the Youth Prison Model." New Thinking in Community Directions Bulletin. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, National Institute of Justice https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/250142.pdf.
- Melendrez, A. 2019. "Centering the Lives of San Francisco System-Involved Women and TGNC People: A Participatory and Decolonizing Model." San Francisco: Young Women's Freedom Center.
- Miller, G. and D. Krieger. 2004. "Purchase of Development Rights: Preserving Farmland and Open Space." *Planning Commissioners Journal* 53.
- Nagin, D. S., F.T. Cullen, and C.L. Johnson. 2009. "Imprisonment and Reoffending." *Crime and Justice* 38 (1): 115–200.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2018. "The Criminal Justice System and Social Exclusion: Race, Ethnicity, and Gender: Proceedings of a Workshop in Brief." Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25247.
- NJJN (National Juvenile Justice Network). 2016. "Snapshot: Dual-Status Youth and Federal Initiatives." Washington, DC: NJJN.
- NRC (National Research Council). 2013. Reforming Juvenile Justice: A Developmental Approach. Committee on Assessing Juvenile Justice Reform, Richard J. Bonnie, Robert L. Johnson, Betty M. Chemers, and Julie A. Schuck, eds. Committee on Law and Justice, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Petrosino, A., C. Turpin-Petrosino, and S. Guckenburg. 2010. Formal System Processing of Juveniles: Effects on Delinquency. Campbell Systematic Reviews 2010:1: Oslo, NOR: The Campbell Collaboration.
- Puzzanchera, C., S. Hockenberry, T.J. Sladky, and W. Kang. 2018. "Juvenile Residential Facility Census Databook." Pittsburgh, PA: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention. https://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/jrfcdb/.
- Ryan, J., and H. Huang. 2012 "Illinois AODA IV-E Waiver Demonstration Final Evaluation Report." Urbana: Children and Family Research Center at the University of Illinois, Urbana.
- Ryon, Stephanie Bontrager, Kristin Winokur Early, Gregory Hand, and Steven Chapman. 2013. "Juvenile Justice Interventions: System Escalation and Effective Alternatives to Residential Placement." *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation* 52 (5): 358–75. doi: 10.1080/10509674.2013.801385.
- Sakala, Leah, Samantha Harvell, and Chelsea Thomson. 2018. "Public Investment in Community-Driven Safety Initiatives: Landscape Study and Key Considerations." Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Sentencing Project, The. 2016. "Racial Disparities in Youth Commitments and Arrests." Last modified April 1, 2016.
- ---. 2017a. "Black Disparities in Youth Incarceration." Last modified September 12, 2017.
- ---. 2017b. "Latino Disparities in Youth Incarceration." Last modified October 12, 2017.
- Tucker, S. B. and E. Cadora. 2003. "Ideas for an Open Society: Justice Reinvestment." New York: Open Society Institute.
- Vessels, L. 2015. "State Assessments of Disproportionate Minority Contact." Pittsburgh: NCJJ (National Center for Juvenile Justice).

REFERENCES 44

- Villettaz, P., M. Killias, and I. Zoder. 2006. "The Effects of Custodial vs. Non-Custodial Sentences on Re-Offending: A Systematic Review of the State of Knowledge." Campbell Systematic Reviews 2006:13.
- Welsh-Loveman, Jeremy and Samantha Harvell, 2017. "Justice Reinvestment Initiative Data Snapshot: Unpacking Reinvestment." Washington DC: Urban Institute.
- Western, B. and K. Beckett. 1999. "How Unregulated Is the US Labor Market? The Penal System as a Labor Market Institution." *American Journal of Sociology*, 104(4): 1030-60.
- Wiig, J., and J. Tuell. 2013. "Guidebook for Juvenile Justice and Child Welfare System Coordination and Integration." MA: Robert F. Kennedy Children's Action Corps.
- Wilson, H. A., and R.D. Hoge. 2013. "Diverting Our Attention to What Works: Evaluating the Effectiveness of a Youth Diversion Program." *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice* 11 (4): 313-331. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541204012473132.
- Zemel, S. and N. Kaye. 2009. "Findings from a survey of juvenile justice and Medicaid policies affecting children in the juvenile justice system: Inter-agency collaboration." Washington, DC: National Academy for State Health Policy.

REFERENCES 45

About the Authors



Samantha Harvell is a principal policy associate in the Justice Policy Center at the Urban Institute. Her work focuses on bringing research to bear on criminal and juvenile justice system reform efforts. Among other projects, she codirects the OJJDP-funded Bridging Research and Practice Project to Advance Juvenile Justice and Safety and oversees assessment of state sites involved in the Justice Reinvestment Initiative. Harvell holds a PhD in psychology and MPP from Georgetown University.



Chloe Warnberg is a policy analyst in the Justice Policy Center, where she works on criminal and juvenile justice policy. Her primary research interests focus on the use of data to inform policy and improve criminal justice outcomes, and she works on projects related to prosecutorial decisionmaking, justice reinvestment, and translating juvenile justice research to practice. Warnberg graduated with a BA in public policy from Duke University.



Leah Sakala is a policy associate in the Justice Policy Center, where she focuses on improving criminal and juvenile justice policy and practice. Her work includes projects to identify and address the drivers of state prison populations, assess and strengthen reform efforts, and support community-driven strategies to advance safety and justice. She holds MPP and MBA degrees from Brandeis University.



Constance Hull is a policy analyst in the Justice Policy Center, with a focus on criminal justice reform. Before joining Urban, she received a Fulbright award to study employment for people with disabilities in India. Hull graduated with a BA in public policy and a BS in psychology from the College of William and Mary, where she researched and worked with pregnant incarcerated women.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS 46

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE

The Urban Institute strives to meet the highest standards of integrity and quality in its research and analyses and in the evidence-based policy recommendations offered by its researchers and experts. We believe that operating consistent with the values of independence, rigor, and transparency is essential to maintaining those standards. As an organization, the Urban Institute does not take positions on issues, but it does empower and support its experts in sharing their own evidence-based views and policy recommendations that have been shaped by scholarship. Funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts. Urban scholars and experts are expected to be objective and follow the evidence wherever it may lead.



500 L'Enfant Plaza SW Washington, DC 20024

www.urban.org